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SAH NOTICES

1976 Bicentennial Annual Meeting, Philadelphia (May 19-
24). Marian C. Donnelly, general chairman; Charles E. Peter-
son, FAIA, honorary local chairman; and R. Damon Childs,
local chairman.

The preliminary announcement (containing full informa-
tion on sessions and tours), the preregistration form and
hotel reservation cards will reach the membership by Jan-
uary 15, 1976.

1977 Annual Meeting, Los Angeles (with College Art Asso-
ciation)—February 2-7. Adolf K. Placzek, Columbia
University, is general chairman of the meeting. David S. Geb-
hard, University of California, Santa Barbara, will act as
local chairman. The call for papers appeared in the June News-
letter.

1976 Foreign Tour—Malta (May 31-June 16). Richard
England, Malta architect and designer, is chairman of the tour.

1976 Annual Tour—Lexington, Kentucky (and vicinity)—
October 6-10. Eric S. McCready, Elvehjem Art Center. Uni-
versity of Wisconsin, Madison, and James P. Noffsinger, Col-
lege of Architecture, University of Kentucky, will serve as
co-chairmen. Announcement of the tour will be sent to the SAH
membership by May 1, 1976. Members abroad who wish to
have the announcement sent airmail should notify the SAH
office (1700 Walnut Street, Room 716, Philadelphia, Pa.
19103).

1977 Special Tour— Newfoundland (July 24-30). Douglas S.
Richardson will act as chairman; he will be assisted by Shane
O’Dea and George T. Kapelos.

SAH Placement Service Bulletin. The next Bulletin will ap-
pear with the February 1976 issue of the Newslerter. Dead-
line: position-available and member-applicant listings must
reach the SAH central office (1700 Walnut Street, Room 716,
Philadelphia, Pa. 19103) no later than January 15, 1976. We
urge prospective employers to submit listings of positions
open (under categories of Academic, Business and Pro-
fessions, Government, and Other), which will be published
free of charge.

American Friends of Attingham, Inc. A tuition-scholarship
will be awarded to an SAH member for the 1976 Attingham Sum-
mer School for the study of English Country Houses and Their
Contents. Enrollment details and brochures on the 1976 course
may be obtained from the American Friends of Attingham Sum-
mer School, Miss Anne Sharkey, Executive Secretary, 41 East
65th Street, New York, N.Y. 10021. Closing date for completed
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STUDENT SCHOLARSHIPS—1976 ANNUAL TOUR
Lexington, Kentucky and Vicinity
October 6-10, 1976

Beginning with the 1976 annual tour, the Society will hold yearly
competitions for student scholarships to enable outstanding
students to participate on domestic tours. The 10% surcharge
on non-student participants’ registrations will be applied to-
ward two or three tour scholarships, which will defray wholly or
in large part the cost of the tour itself, the hotel accommoda-
tions and air or train fare (depending upon the travel distance
involved).

To be eligible, a student must be engaged in graduate
work in architecture or architectural history, city planning or
urban history, landscape or the history of landscape design.
Students interested in being considered for a scholarship should
write the SAH central office (Room 716, 1700 Walnut Street,
Philadelphia, Pa. 19103) for an application blank. The appli-
cation should be completed (attaching a vira and one or more
departmental recommendations) and returned to the SAH office
by March 1, 1976. A scholarship committee will be appointed by
the President of SAH to make the awards. Notification will be
sent to all applicants by May 1, 1976.

applications is February 6, 1976. Any SAH member is eligible.
The School will convene for three weeks on July 7 at Hawkstone
(near Shrewsbury, Shropshire). The final week before the July
27 dispersal will be spent in study of selected sites in the Melton
Mowbray area, the School residing at nearby Brooksby in
Leicestershire.

NEWS OF MEMBERS

JAMES S. ACKERMAN and GEORGE L. HERSEY partici-
pated in the New England Renaissance Conference at Boston
University . . . GIORGIO CAVAGLIERI has been appointed a
member of the 1976 AIA Honor Awards Jury for Extended Use
.. .JEAN R. FRANCE has accepted a position teaching Ameri-
can architecture at the University of Rochester . . . PETER L.
GOSS, Graduate School of Architecture, University of Utah,
has been appointed to the Governor’s Historic and Cultural Sites
Review Committee of Utah and to the Board of Trustees of the
Utah Heritage Foundation . ..RICHARD H. HOWLAND,
Special Assistant to the Secretary, Smithsonian Institution, has
been reappointed to a four-year term on the Consulting Commit-
tee for the National Survey of Historic Sites and Buildings. He




was also redesignated chairman of the committee . . . The 1975
Louis Sullivan Award for Architecture has been awarded to
PHILIPJOHNSON . . . ALFONZ LENGYEL, Northern Ken-
tucky State College, has been elected a member of Consultative
Committee of UNESCO Carthage Project in the status of ob-
server member . . . ERIC S. McCREADY, University of Wis-
consin, has been judged recipient of the James L. Sellers Memo-
rial Award for his article *“The Nebraska State Capitol: Its De-
sign, Background, and Influence,”” which appeared in Nebraska
History, Vol. 55, no. 3 (1974) . . . ROBERT J. MULLEN has
accepted a position teaching Latin American art and architec-
tural history at the University of Texas at San Antonio . . .
DEBRA PINCUS, Sarah Lawrence College, has been awarded a
post-doctoral research grant by the American Council of
Learned Societies for: ** An iconographical investigation of An-
tonio Rizzo’s tomb for Doge Nicolo Tron in the Frari, Venice’’
.. .WILLARD B. ROBINSON was recently named acting di-
rector and curator of historical architecture for the Ranching
Heritage Center ... MYRA N. ROSENFELD. Montreal
Museum of Fine Arts, has also been awarded a grant by the
ACLS for research on the subject of Sebastiano Serlio’s Chateau
of Ancy-le-Franc . . . ANATOLE SENKEVITCH, JR. served
as faculty advisor to a student team from the School of Architec-
ture, University of Maryland, which received a special award
from the Committee on Historic Resources of the Washington
Metropolitan Chapter of the AIA, chaired by NICHOLAS A.
PAPPAS. The project, **Old Anacostia Preservation Study,”
was funded by a City Options Grant from the National Endow-
ment for the Arts . . . FREDERICK A. STAHL was the reci-
pient of an award from the General Services Administration for
the firm’s work in the recycling of the historic Old Federal Courts
Building in St. Paul, Minnesota . . . CHRISTOPHER TUN-
NARD has announced that he is now professor emeritus of
city planning at Yale University . . . KATHERINE VAUX,
president, Philadelphia Chapter of SAH and HUGH J.
McCAULEY, Chapter Preservation Officer, were married
October 11.

CONFERENCES

Art Libraries Society of North America. The Fourth Annual
Conference of the ARLIS/NA will be held January 28-February
1, 1976 at the Palmer House Hotel in Chicago. For information
contact: Judith A. Hoftberg, ARLIS/NA, P.O. Box 3692, Glen-
dale, Ca. 91201.

International Sculpture Conference. The National Sculpture
Center has issued a call for papers to be presented during the
Ninth International Sculpture Conference to be held in New
Orleans March 31-April 3, 1976. Elden Tefft, director of the
Center, said proposals should indicate the nature of the presenta-
tion by a two-page synopsis, which should include a description
of the visual materials to be used, necessary equipment and the
space required. The proposal should be accompanied by a brief
biographical sketch of the author, including past accomplish-
ments. Although special consideration will be given papers that
support the theme, **Monumental Sculpture Today,’” proposals
in any area of interest to sculptors are invited. Deadline is De-
cember 15, 1975. Write to: Elden Tefft, Director, National
Sculpture Center, University of Kansas, Lawrence, Kansas
66045.

ORGANIZATIONS

Historic Charleston Foundation. Over eighty-five private
houses and gardens will be open during the Twenty-Ninth An-
nual Festival of Houses from March 18 through April 17. The
distinguished dwelling houses which will be shown only during
this event cover more than two centuries of our country’s most
exciting period of architectural development. All profits go to
Historic Charleston Foundation's Revolving Fund for preserva-
tion. Write to Alice W. Rudolf, Tours Director, Historic Charles-
ton Foundation, 51 Meeting Street, Charleston, South Carolina
29401.

National Endowment for the Arts. The NEA is seeking to
establish a list of individuals and organizations with known ex-
perience and research capabilities in the arts. Those interested in
the project are requested to send summaries of their back-
ground, resource, research and management capabilities to:
Research Division, National Endowment for the Arts.
Washington, D.C. 20506.

COURSES

Advisory Council on Historic Preservation. The International
Centre for the Study of the Preservation and Restoration of
Cultural Property, Rome, Italy, is offering three training courses
in conservation and restoration. Designed for architects, art and
architectural historians, archaeologists, engineers and planners,
the three courses cover architectural conservation, conservation
of mural paintings and fundamental principles of conservation.
Applications received by January 15, 1976 will be considered for
1977 courses. Write to: Executive Secretary, International
Centre Committee, 1522 K Street, NW, Suite 1030, Washington,
D.C. 20005.

Historic Deerfield, Inc. The annual Summer Fellowship pro-
gram in Early American History and the Decorative Arts will
be held from June 15 to August 14, 1976. A limited number of
fellowships will be awarded to single men and women of under-
graduate status who are interested in careers in the museum field
and related professions. The fellowships are designed to provide
students who are interested in a professional career in the field of
preservation or interpretation of early American history and
culture an opportunity to explore that interest in an intensive
program of museum apprenticeship and an independent research
project. Completed applications must be received before Feb-
ruary 1, 1976. For further information and applications, write to:
Historic Deerfield, 1976 Fellowship Program, Deerfield, Mass.
01342.

Institute of Advanced Architectural Studies. ‘““Maintenance
of Historic Buildings,’" a course at the Institute February 16-20,
1976, will deal specifically with maintenance of historic and old
buildings. It will include lectures and discussions of maintenance
procedures and repair techniques which are peculiar to old build-
ings and will concentrate on materials and craftsmanship. All
sessions will take place in the King’s Manor, York. The fee is £95
or £82.50, depending on hotel accommodations. Write to: David
Rymer MA, Secretary, Institute of Advanced Architectural
Studies, University of York, King’s Manor, York, YO1 2EP,
England.



Massachusetts Institute of Technology Ph.D. Program in
Architecture, Art and Environmental Studies. The depart-
ment of architecture program includes both studio instruction
and studies in history, theory and criticism of art, architecture,
and urban form. Doctoral studies within the department. which
have begun with a small class in the present academic year, are
conceived to take advantage of this coincidence of fields and
people. Consequently, the program emphasizes: the study of
modern urbanism, architecture and art (eighteenth century to the
present); theory and method of these fields; theory and method
of historical and critical studies. The intention is to have a small
number of doctoral candidates working in close association with
the faculty, on mutual research programs where appropriate.
The previous university work of those who apply may be either
in academic or professional schools, although in history of ar-
chitecture some preference will be given to professional experi-
ence. In either case, the candidate should already have a mas-
ter’s degree or the equivalent through advanced work. This latter
requirement is set in order that concerted research work may
begin early and thus minimize the time to the granting of the
degree. Further information may be obtained from Stanford An-
derson, Room 4-209, M.I1.T., Cambridge, Mass. 02139.

University of Cincinnati. A new master’s program in architec-
ture was instituted this fall. The College of Design, Architecture
and Art is offering a two-year program leading to a Master of
Science in Architecture with emphasis on applied research in the
field of architecture. William Rudd, SAH, is in charge of the
program. Each student will work on a tutorial basis with an
advisor and a faculty committee. For information contact: Wil-
liam Rudd, Associate Professor of Architecture, University of
Cincinnati, College of Design, Architecture and Art, Cincinnati,
Ohio 45221.

Winterthur Program. The two-year graduate course of study in
Early American Arts and Cultural History leads to a Master of
Arts Degree. Planned as preparation for careers in curatorship,
teaching, research and writing, it is an interdisciplinary cur-
riculum sponsored by the Henry Francis du Pont Winterthur
Museum and the University of Delaware. Only applicants who
are appointed Winterthur Fellows are admitted to the program.
Applications should be filed by February I, 1976. Graduate Rec-
ord Examination scores must be filed with applications. For
application forms and further information write: The Coor-
dinator, Winterthur Program, University of Delaware, Newark,
Delaware 19711.

FELLOWSHIP AND GRANT OPPORTUNITIES

Illinois State Historical Society. Graduate fellowship available
for Ph.D. candidates working in an area of Illinois history. Appli-
cation deadline March 15, 1976. Contact: William K. Alderfer,
Executive Director, Illinois State Historical Society, Old State
Capital, Springfield, Ill. 62706.

National Historical Publications and Records Commission.
Several fellowships are available in advanced editing of docu-
mentary sources for 1976-1977. Stipends of $11,000, Ph.D. re-
quired. Application deadline, March 1, 1976. Contact: Executive
Director, National Historical Publications and Records Com-
mission, Room 100, National Archives Building, Washington,
D.C. 20408.

Smithsonian Programs for Visiting Investigators and Stu-
dents. For information on a variety of pre-doctoral and post-
doctoral fellowships write to: Office of Academic Studies, Room
356 SI Building, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.
20560. Application deadline, January 15, 1976.

West Virginia Board of Regents. The West Virginia Society of
Architects has announced that advanced architecture students
who are residents of the state may be eligible for tuition assist-
ance from the West Virginia government. The state legislature
earmarked $50,000 to aid students at out-of-state institutions.
Lacking a school of architecture, the program is aimed at resi-
dents who qualify for it through universities in other states. Write
to: West Virginia Board of Regents, 1316 Charleston National
Plaza, Charleston, W. Va. 25301.

THE ARCHITECTURE OF BOOKS: CONTINUED
by John Maass

In the December 1972 SAH Newsletter 1 reported with a sense of
wonder on the extraordinary record made by books on architec-
tural history in the **Fifty Books of the Year’’ shows sponsored
by the American Institute of Graphic Arts. The making of a book
is now a complex collaboration between several exacting crafts
which makes the **Fifty Books™ the toughest possible competi-
tion. Appropriateness and originality of design, format, layout,
typography, reproduction, presswork, paper, binding, jacket—
all are scrutinized by a jury of five experts. A single flaw in any
respect may eliminate a volume from consideration.

In checking the 1973 and 1974 catalogs, | find that books on
architectural history have again triumphed. In 1973 the following
made the ultra-select **Fifty"":

Robert de Gast, The Lighthouses of the Chesapeake, Johns
Hopkins University Press, $12.50.

Nader Ardalan and Laleh Baktiar, The Sense of Unity. Uni-
versity of Chicago Press, $17.50.

Joanne Young, Washington's Mount Vernon, Holt, Rinehart
& Winston, $6.95.

Three books on contemporary architecture and environmental
design also made the **Fifty’" that year.

In 1974 these books on architectural history were chosen:
Thomas B. Brumbaugh (ed.), Architecture of Middle Tennes-
see, Vanderbilt University Press, $17.95.

David P. Billington and others, The Eads Bridge, Princeton
University Art Museum, $3.50.

Curt Bruce and Thomas Aidala, The Great Houses of San
Francisco, Alfred A. Knopf, $12.95.

James F. O'Gorman, H. H. Richardson and His Office:
Selected Drawings, Harvard College Library, $25.00.

One book on contemporary environmental design was also
selected in 1974.

Now for some simple arithmetic: In 1973, 39,951 titles were
published in the United States and eligible for the *‘Fifty Books
of the Year.”” From keeping a list for the Hitchcock Book Award
Committee [ know that the number of new books on architectural
history was approximately 50 that year. In 1974, the total number
of titles was 40,846 (including 1,525 on art, and 1,292 on history);
the number of books on architectural history was again about 50,



Thus, in the period 1973/1974, 1 out of 14 architectural history
books were selected for the “‘Fifty."” For the 80,700 books on all
other subjects the score was 1 out of 870.

How can we explain this record of consistently superior excel-
lence? There can be no doubt that there is a historic affinity
between architecture and book design. Architectural books are
almost always illustrated, and architectural plans, drawings and
photographs make striking images. Finally, there must be some-
thing about architectural history that inspires authors, pub-
lishers, editors, designers, illustrators, and printers to produce
great books.

BOOKS

Andrew Alpern, SAH. Apartments for the Affluent. New York:
McGraw-Hill, 1975. $19.95.

Sherban Cantacuzino (ed.). Architectural Conservation in
Europe. New York: Watson-Guptill Publications, 1975. $20.00.
Includes articles taken from a special issue of The Architectural
Review, along with additional material.

Sherban Cantacuzino. New Uses for Old Buildings. New York:
Watson-Guptill Publications, 1975. $29.95.

The Destruction of the Country House. Roy Strong, John Harris
and Marcus Binney (eds.). London: Thames and Hudson, 1974.
£4.95; paper £2.95.

David Gebhard, SAH. Charles F. A. Voysey, Architect. Los
Angeles: Hennessey & Ingalls, Inc.; 1975. $12.95.

The Genius of the Place: The English Landscape Garden, 1620-
1820. John Dixon Hunt and Peter Willis, SAH (eds.). Edinburgh:
Elysium Press, Ltd.; 1975. £12.50.

Jill Grossman. Revelations of New England Architecture:
People and Their Buildings. Photographs by Curt Bruce. New
York: Grossman Publishers, 1975. $15.95.

Dolores Hayden, SAH. Seven American Utopias: The Architec-
ture of Communitarian Socialism. Boston: MIT Press, 1975.
$14.95.

Walter C. Kidney, SAH. Working Places: The Adaptive Reuse of
Industrial Buildings. Pittsburgh: Ober Park Associates, Inc.,
1975. $13.95; paper, $7.45.

Jessie B. T. Krusen. Tuckahoe Plantation. Photographs by
Richard Cheek, SAH. Richmond, Va.: Tuckahoe Plantation
Publications, 1975. $25.00.

Neighborhood Preservation and Revitalization. A description of
100 locally initiated preservation programs. $5.15. Available
G.P.O., Washington, D.C. 20402. Stock Number 023-00-
00285-0.

Ian M. G. Quimby, SAH (ed.). Winterthur Conference Report
1974: Arts of the Anglo-American Community in the Seventeenth
Century. Charlottesville: The University Press of Virginia, 1975.
$4.50. Includes **The Dutch and Their Homes in the Seventeenth
Century,”” by T. H. Lunsingh Scheurleer and **English Interiors
in the Seventeenth Century,”’ by Helena Haywood.

John Sergeant. Frank Lloyd Wright's Usonian Houses: The Case

for Organic Architecture. Whitney Library of Design. New

York: Watson-Guptill, 1975. $22.50.

Peter Willis, SAH (ed.). Furor Hortensis: Essays on the History
of the English Landscape Garden. Edinburgh: Elysium Press,
Ltd., 1974. $25.00.

REPRINTS AND NEW EDITIONS

Sidney O. Addy. The Evolution of the English House. Revised
and enlarged from author’s notes by John Summerson. New
York: British Book Centre, 1975. $22.50. Reprint of 1933 edition,
published by Allen & Unwin, London.

Edgar W. Anthony. Early Florentine Architecture and Decora-
tion. New York: Hacker Art Books, 1975. $35.00. Reprint of
1927 edition, published by Harvard University Press.

Martin Battersby. The Decorative Thirties. New York: Macmil-
lan, 1975. $7.95, paper. First published c. 1971.

Martin Battersby. The Decorative Twenties. New York: Macmil-
lan, 1975. $8.95, paper. First published c. 1969.

Frank Brangwyn and Hayter Preston. Windmills. New York:
Dodd, Mead. Detroit: Gale Research Co., 1975. $14.00. Reprint
of the 1923 edition.

Exterior Decoration. Introduction by Samuel J. Dornsife, SAH.
Philadelphia: The Athenaeum of Philadelphia, 1975. $35.00;
pre-December 31, 1975, $25.00. Available from distributor, The
American Life Foundation, Watkins Glen, New York 14891.
Republication of 1885 edition, with expanded bibliography and
color schemes.

Frank Leslie's Illustrated Historical Register of the Centennial
Exposition of 1876. Paddington Press, Ltd., 1975. $39.95; paper,
$12.95. Available from The Two Continents Publishing Group,
Ltd., 30 E. 42nd Street, New York, N.Y. 10017.

Talbot F. Hamlin. Architecture, an Art for All Men. Westwood,
Conn.: Greenwood Press, 1975. $17.50. Reprint of 1947 edition
by Columbia University Press.

Johannes Itten. Design and Form: The Basic Course at the
Bauhaus. Trans. by Bradley. Rev. ed. New York: Van Nostrand
Reinhold, 1975. $9.95; paper, $6.95.

Harriette Leiding. Historic Houses of South Carolina. Spartan-
burg, S.C.: Reprint Co., 1975. $24.00. Reprint of 1921 edition,
published by Lippincott, Philadelphia.

James D. McCabe. The Illustrated History of the Centennial
Exhibition Philadelphia 1876. Philadelphia: National Publishing
Co., 1975. $12.50. Available from J. B. Lippincott Company,
Box 956, Philadelphia, Pa. 19405.

Esther McCoy, SAH. Five California Architects. Chapter on
Greene and Greene by Randell L. Makinson, SAH. New York:
Praeger Publishers, 1975. $17.50; paper, $9.95. Originally pub-
lished c. 1960 by Reinhold Book Company.



Robert Macoy. The Centennial Guide to New York City and Its
Environs: A Complete Guide and Hand-Book of Useful Informa-
tion Collected from the Latest Reliable Sources. New York: N.
Cohen Books, 1975. $4.95. Reprint of the 1876 edition published
by the author.

Walter Miiller-Wulckow. Architektur der Zwanziger Jahre in
Deutschland. Foreword by Reyner Banham and new biographies
by Stefan Muthesius, SAH. Langewiesche Nachfolger Kdnig-
stein in Taunus, 1974[?]. DM 59.00. A reissue of the four **Blaue
Biicher™™ of 1929-32 on contemporary German architecture and
domestic design.

Helen Rosenau. The Ideal City: Its Architectural Evolution. New
York: Harper and Row, c. 1972 [1975]. $20.00. Published in 1959
under title The Ideal City in its Architectural Evolution.

Osvald Siren. The Imperial Palaces of Peking. New York: AMS
Press, 1975. $195.00. Reprint of 1926 edition, published by G.
van Qest, Paris.

Don Swann. Colonial and Historic Homes of Maryland.
Foreword by F. Scott Fitzgerald. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins
University Press, 1975. $35.00. Originally published in 1939.

Richard Upjohn. Upjohn’s Rural Architecture Designs; Designs
Working Drawings and Specifications for a Wooden Church and
Other Rural Structures. New York: DaCapo Press, 1974 [1975].
$29.50 (lib. bdg.). Reprint of the edition published by Putnam.

Victorian Architecture: Two Pattern Books by A. J. Bicknell and
William T. Comstock. Introduction by John Maass, SAH. Wat-
kins Glen, N.Y.; American Life Foundation and Study Institute,
1975. $15.00. Combined reprint of Bicknell (1873) and Com-
stock (1881) pattern books in single volume.

Edith N. Wharton and Ogden Codman, Jr. The Decoration of

Houses. New York: Arno Press, 1975. $21.00. Reprint of 1897
edition, published by Scribner.

ARTICLES

Susan Fondiler Berkon, SAH and Jane Holtz Kay, SAH. **Mar-
ion Mahony Griffin, Architect,”” The Feminist Art Journal
(Spring 1975), pp. 10-14.

Noel Carrington. ‘‘Decorative Artist of the Twenties: Dora Car-
rington (1893-1932),”" Country Life (July 17, 1975), pp. 157-158.

John Cornforth and Herbert Hijmersma. “*Early Classicism in
Leiden,”” Country Life (August 21, 1975), pp. 438-441.

Yulande Crowe. “*Divrigi,”" Architectural Review (May 1975).
Peter L. Goss, SAH. **Utah’s Architectural Heritage: Park
Stake First Ward, Pope and Burton, Architects of The Prairie
Style,”” Utah Architect (Summer 1974), pp. 14-16.

Horatio Greenough. **American Architecture 1843,"" American
Art Review (May-June 1975), reprint of an 1843 article.

Douglas Haskell, SAH. *‘Futurism With Its Covers On,”’ (Grand
Central Station, New York) Architectural Review (May 1975).

Gervase Jackson-Stops. “‘Rebirth of a Dutch Versailles. The
Restoration of Het Loo,” Country Life (August 21, 1975), pp.
458-459.

Peter B. Jones. “*Late Works of Schoroun,” Architectural Re-
view (March 1975).

William D. Middleton. **Grand Central: The Grandest Terminal
of Them All,”” Trains (May 1975).

Nory Miller. **“The Statehouse [Illinois] Remodeling. a Costly
Snafu,”” Inland Architect (April 1975), pp. 8-13.

Amos Rapoport. “*Symbolism and Environmental Design,"
Journal of Architectural Education (Vol. 27, 1975).

Lydia Robinson. ‘‘Albert Kahn,”" Architectural Review (June
1975).

James Stirling. **Stirling Connexions,”” Architectural Review
(May 1975).

Christopher Tadgell. **Gabriel's Grand Projects,”” Architectural
Review (March 1975).

George B. Tatum, SAH. **Architecture-1776,”" The American
Art Journal (May 1975).

F.K.B. Toker, SAH, A. T. Luttrell and I. Adams. **An Umbrian
Abbey: San Paolo di Valdiponte, Part 1,”” Papers of the British
School at Rome XL (1973), pp. 146-195.

Robert C. Twombly. **Saving the Family: Middle Class Attrac-
tion to Wright's Prairie House, 1901-1909,"" American Quarterly
(March 1975).

Wolf Von Eckardt, SAH. **The Downfall of the High-Rise,”
Inland Architect (October 1975), pp. 7-20.

Catherine Wilkinson. **The Escorial and the Invention of the
Imperial Staircase,”” Art Bulletin (March 1975).

John Zukowsky. SAH. ‘“*“Montjoies and Eleanor Crosses Recon-
sidered,”” GESTA XIII, 1 (1974), pp. 39-44.

JOURNALS

The American Art Review (July-August 1975). Henry B. Adams,
**The Stained Glass of John La Farge'’; Malcolm Fleming, **The
Saving of Henry Hobson Richardson’s Union Station, New
London, Connecticut’’; and Arnold Klukas, ‘“Henry Hobson
Richardson’s Design for the Emmanuel Episcopal Church,
Pittsburgh.”

Boletin del Centro de Investigaciones Historicas y Esteticas No.
19 (December 1974). Published by Facultad de Arquitectura y
Urbanismo University Central de Venezuela, Caracas. Con-
tents: Horst Hartung, **Monte Alban—Concepto Espacial de un
Centro Ceremonial Zapoteco™'; Mario Sartor, ‘‘Algunas
Hipotesis Acerca de la Orientation en el Urbanismo Precolom-
bino’’; Sidney D. Markman, SAH, *‘Pre-Columbian Survivals in
Colonial Hispano-American Art and Architecture’; Sylvio de



Vasconiellos, *‘San Jose de Minas Novas y su Extrano An-
tecedente’’; and Santiago Sebastian, *‘Architectura Del Siglo
XIXen Santa Fe de Antioquia (Colombia).””

Historic Preservation (October-December 1975). Catherine
Lynn Frangiamore, SAH, ‘‘Historic Wallpaper’’; William
Lehman, *‘History and Restoration Plan of Guthrie, Ok-
lahoma’’; Herbert McLaughlin, *‘Preserving Commercial Struc-
tures’’; Philip Chadwick and Foster Smith, **Sketches of East
India Marine Hall, Peabody Museum of Salem’”; Leslie E. This,
**Small Meeting Planning'’; and Sam Sweezy, **Traditional Pot-
tery Making in North Carolina.”

Oppositions 3 (May 1974), Charles Moore, SAH, ** After a New
Architecture’’; Kenneth Frampton, SAH, **Apropos Ulm™;
Manfredo Tafuri, **L’Architecture dans le Boudoir’’; William
Huff, **Symmetry’"; William Eardley, “‘Giraudoux and The
Athens Charter’”; and Rem Koolhassm, ‘‘The Architects’

Ball— A Vignette."

The Prairie School Review (Second Quarter 1974). James R.
Allen, “*Ernest M. Wood: A Provincial Testament.”

lan M. G. Quimby. SAH, (ed.). Winterthur Portfolio 10. Mary
Jean Smith Madigan, **The Influence of Charles Locke Eastlake
on American Furniture Manufacture™ ; Kenneth L. Ames, SAH,
“*Grand Rapids Furniture at the Time of the Centennial’’;
Caroline Sloat, ***The Dover Manufacturing Company and the
Integration of English and American Calico Printing Techniques,
1825-1829""; Samuel J. Dornsife, SAH, “*Design Sources for
Nineteenth-Century Window Hangings''; Wilson H. Faude,
SAH. **Associated Artists and the American Renaissance in the
Decorative Arts’’; Alice P. Kenney and Leslie J. Workman,
““Ruins, Romance and Reality: Medievalism in Anglo-American
Imagination and Taste, 1750-1840""; Jay E. Cantor, SAH, ““A
Monument of Trade: A. T. Stewart and the Rise of the Mil-
lionaire’s Mansion in New York': and Helene Barbara Wein-
berg, “La Farge’s Eclectic Idealism in Three New York City
Churches.™

QUERIES

Archive of Women in Architecture. In preparation for its forth-
coming exhibition, **Dwelling, Place and Architecture: An
Exhibition of Space, Projects and Buildings Designed by Wo-
men,’’ the Archive is seeking any information about women
architects, particularly those active in the late-nineteenth and
early-twentieth century. Contact Judith Paine, Administrator,
Archive of Women in Architecture, The Architectural League of
New York, 41 East 65th Street, New York, N.Y. 10021.

Robert H. Robertson (1849-1919).Information on the drawings
and office records, or their whereabouts, is desired. Especially
interested in the Burden Company Office Building (1881), Troy.
N.Y. Write to Mary Ellen Domblewski of Mendel-Mesick-
Cohen, Architects, 388 Broadway, Albany, N.Y. 12207.

EXHIBITS

Metropolitan Museum of Art. The ten new galleries for Islamic
Art opened October 4th. Probably the largest collection of its
kind in the world, the installation includes: a reception room

from an 18th century house in Damascus complete with painted
and gilded walls and ceiling, stained glass windows, and an
elaborate inlaid marble floor with a mosaic fountain; a superb
14th century Persian Mihrab made of brilliantly colored tile
mosaic; and a gallery with a 14th century panelled ceiling from
Spain. The Metropolitan Museum of Art, Fifth Avenue at 82nd
Street, New York, N.Y. Hours: Tuesdays., 10-8:45; Wed-
nesdays-Saturdays, 10-4:45; Sundays, 11-4:45.

Museum of Modern Art. “*The Architecture of the Ecole des
Beaux Arts’ is an important exhibition of about 200 student
drawings. Organized by Arthur Drexler, the drawings present
each phase and step of what was a unique educational experi-
ence. Ada Louise Huxtable, SAH, states that **. . . the Ecole des
Beaux Art is more than a school. It is la source, the foun-
tainhead for Old and New Worlds.” A total of three rooms are
devoted to related materials, two for photographs of French and
American Beaux Arts buildings and one room to drawings for the
Paris Opéra by Charles Garnier of 1861-75, and the Bibliothéque
Sainte-Genevieve by Henri Labrouste of 1850. The exhibit is
open through January 4. A book will appear later this year, with
essays by Drexler. David Van Zanten, SAH, Richard Chafee,
SAH. and Neil Levine. Museum of Modern Art, 11 W. 53rd
Street, New York, N.Y. Hours: Daily 11 to 6 and Thursday
evenings to 9. Closed Wednesdays.

The Octagon. ‘‘Bridges and the City of Washington™ is the
theme of an exhibition of photographs, models, drawings, and
artifacts relating to the development of the variety of bridges that
cross the Potomac River, the Anacostia River and Rock Creek.
Compiled by Donald Myer, SAH, Assistant Secretary of the
Commission of Fine Arts, and jointly sponsored by The Octagon
and the U.S. Commission of Fine Arts. The Octagon, 1799 New
York Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. Hours: Tuesdays-
Saturdays, 10-4; Sundays. 1-4; closed Mondays.

The Prairie School in lowa. A multimedia exhibit by Richard
Guy Wilson, SAH, and Sidney K. Robinson, SAH. to be shown
at the Brunier Galleries, Scheman Building, lowa State Univer-
sity, Ames, lowa, January 17-March 15, 1976, and then to tour.
Funded by the lowa Arts Council and National Endowment for
the Arts.

The Walter Burley Griffin Centennial Exhibition. An exhibit
of the architecture and city planning of Walter Burley Griffin
(1876-1937) is being prepared by Donald Leslie Johnson, SAH,
under a grant from the Australia Council. Initial plans include
travel of the exhibit in the United States and India during 1976-
77. Support is requested of people and institutions possessing
material on or by Griffin, by allowing selection for the exhibition.
Write to: Donald Leslie Johnson, Coordinator, The Griffin
Centennial Exhibition, Art Gallery of South Australia, North
Terrace, Adelaide, South Australia 5000.

1975 ANNUAL TOUR—ANNAPOLIS

A tour of buildings in Anne Arundel, Calvert, Charles, and St.
Mary’s counties was planned by Jesse Nalle of Annapolis, and
his committee—James Wood Burch, Lois Greene Carr, Cary
Carson. Orlando Ridout IV, and Arthur C. Townsend (with the
Maryland Historical Trust as host organization). Eighty SAH
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Lighthouse at Thomas Point, Annapolis Harbor
Photo: R. E. Berry

members participated from noon on 1 October to noon on 5
October 1975. The weather, but for one muggy afternoon, was
perfect. Mrs. St. Clair Wright, President of Historic Annapolis,
Inc., Dr. Edward Papenfuse, the State's archivist, and Cary
Carson of the St. Mary’s City Commission gave an orientation
program; the tours were variously conducted by John Pearce
(State’s Historic Preservation Officer), Orlando Ridout, Con-
stance Werner Ramirez (editor of the HABS Maryland survey),
Mary Warren, Dr. Carr, and Dr. Carson, whose particular study
of southern Maryland demography offered graphic contrast to
the more familiar standard northeastern image of theocratic vil-
lages with dependable vital statistics. He stressed the short lives
of Maryland settlers, a great number of bond-servants, and an-
tiquated land tenures as causes of impermanent building and
consequent loss of almost all building from before about 1690. He
and others often mentioned the value of Henry Chandlee For-
man’s pioneer architectural histories and the need for fuller study
and publication.

To many of the company the most interesting new architec-
tural personality was Richard Boulton, church builder of the
1760’s and ’seventies who favored plaster barrel *‘vaults’ on
square piers with home-made near-Ionic caps, box pews, and
flagged aisles; his churches seem simpler but more spacious than
the generally earlier South Carolina rural chapels. He used the
fine sand-struck over-size brick general in the region: his St.
Andrew’s, Leonardtown (1766 ff.), has square west towers with
quoins, niches, and toy pinnacles flanking a Palladian window
which floats above an entrance loggia. All this, if it were larger
and stuccoed, would look Central-American; in the same church
the ornamental flourishes of the Commandments tables, Creed,
and Lord’s Prayer, which are otherwise sedately lettered, also
have a rather Latin look. How come? Quite otherwise is All
Saints’, Sunderland (1774-77), four bays by three, which has
walls two stretchers thick spanning between piers (four stretch-
ers square) which end at the top in proto-Bulfinch arches enclos-
ing two tiers of segmental-headed windows. All remarkably logi-
cal and almost ‘‘constructivist,”” with no ornament except a
moulded quarter-round base topped by a moulded reversed
cavetto. Boulton’s All Faith church, Huntersville (1773), besides
his usual vault and “‘Ionic’ piers, and clear-glass arched win-

dows and central doors on three sides, has a highly effect recent
rose window in strong colors, and admirable Victor brass chan-
cel fittings. Three other churches were visited.

The grand axial houses, Whitehall, Chase-Lloyd, and
Hammond-Harwood, gave an opportunity to see William Buck-
land’s Georgian wood-carving gradually adjusting to the Ameri-
can scale which Buckland had not understood at Gunston Hall.
The degree to which Whitehall emulated Stratford at the center,
but then spread itself theatrically thin and flat at the ends, be-
came interestingly evident. The full five-part plan of Tulip Hill,
standingclear at the head of its long informal slope of tremendous
trees, and with its long formal box-flanked descent to the river on
the other side, gave us the Hammond-Harwood sort of order plus
great space and freedom.

Most of us were unprepared for the beauties of smaller and
earlier houses in the country: Maidstone, with its steep roof and
powerful chimney (1678?-1699); Ocean Hall, of similar two-room
plan, but in brick and with altered fenestration of 1725 and bold
slightly later paneling; Sotterley, enlarged from a two-room
frame house about 1725 to a complex T and L plan with rich
interior woodwork and another tremendous river view; and
Cedar Park, a two-room plan of larger dimensions, with a fine
eighteenth-century chimney-breast in one room and an added
semi-octagonal room at the back, the combination providing a
reminiscence of Acton in Annapolis itself. Cedar Park, with its
long slow slopes full of brood mares and foals, its large-scaled
early nineteenth-century furniture, and its strange end chimneys
from which the adjacent wall steps back on one side but not the
other, conceals under the low slope of its latter-day verandah a
large area of the steeper round-shingled original roof laid over
riven oak clapboards. Similar hidden bits of old structure were
visible at Ocean Hall (a “*cruck™ type of roof framing) and at
Holly Hill, a house which grew very much as Sotterley did and
thus encapsulated at an internal angle a fascinating bit of almost
Gothic roof.

Holly Hill, in a sheltered intimate setting among huge trees,
was perhaps the most generally admired of all. It seems to have
been begun about 1667 as a frame house on posts plunged into the
ground, which, on the addition of two more rooms in an L about
1704, was encased fully in brick, and about 1730 given a T form
by a further addition. All this is documented in a painting on
panel (before 1733) in one of the chimney-breasts, which bears a
plan of the land with an inset view of house and garden. This and
other chimney-breasts are boldly paneled, one is marbleized, and
another bears a charming landscape. The genealogical interests
of the owner, reflected in numerous photographs and brass-
rubbings, combine with excellent furniture to make an unforget-
table whole.

The only competition is West St. Mary’s Manor, farther south
and again with a tremendous river view across the St. Mary’s and
Potomac out to the Chesapeake. The house is a frame one with
two pair of chimneys, each pair with pents between the stacks.
The scale, except for the sculptural quality of the chimneys, is
small, and a recent and well-scaled box garden helps to adapt to
the vastness of the fields beyond. Internally the house has been
made comfortable by ingenious partitions and a shift of almost all
the modern housekeeping fitments and activity to the basement.
The result is a setting of almost Pepysian flavor for the owners’
extraordinary collection of seventeenth- and eighteenth-century
furniture, European and Oriental ceramics, rugs, stumpwork and
other embroideries, brass, and iron, not to mention historical
portraits. The assembly is almost impossible to criticize because
of the evident skill and love involved in acquisition, weeding, and
maintenance.



Back in Annapolis, we saw the house of Charles Carroll *‘the
Barrister’” and the outside of the house of Charles Carroll of
Carrollton the Signer, the latter an example of adaptive use for a
hundred years or so as part of a Redemptorist community. The
recent happy re-creation of William Paca’s city garden not only
will give a visually comprehensive approach to his house (whose
five-part front opens on the other side to a narrow street) but has
also already given its neighbor the Brice House a delightful view
from its back windows, long impeded by a hotel. In the Paca
house, whose grander rooms have detail by Buckland, restora-
tion presents many puzzles; Russell Wright and his crew gave a
first-class show of detective work, restoration techniques,
moulded substitutes for lost carved elements, and ingenious
insertion of plumbing. Mr. Wright’s own demonstration of a
surprise (Paca used a second-hand stairway) was splendid.

We were privileged to see the ground floor and much of the
high-vaulted basement of the Brice House, whose plan is re-
miniscent of Shirley in Virginia, with the curious addition of a
small **warm room’’ at the foot of the stairs, almost like a British
porter’s cubbyhole.

Two taverns complete the roster. The one now called London
Town Publik House at Edgewater was long the ferry tavern on
the south bank of South River, and for even longer it was a
county almshouse. Almost a cube in all-header brick, it stands
high on the bank, its two great parallel interior chimneys serving
three tiers of four corner rooms; these are kept remarkably
private by cross-shaped halls, the narrower of which is arched
over by the chimneys; in many rooms a brick niche flanks the
fireplace; on the main floor the rooms are a step up from the halls.
A most interesting building (c. 1744-50), it is well though perhaps
too sanitarily restored. In Annapolis itself, on Church Circle near
the State House of 1779 (which we of course visited), is the
Reynolds Tavern, recently acquired by the National Trust, but
long used as county library headquarters and before that as a
bank and as the official dwelling of a bank president. It probably
dates from 1748, and possesses interesting plank partitions in the
upper storeys and good later fireplaces, as well as a fine lot of
cooking fireplaces and ovens in the busement.

In sum, this was a well-planned and very rewarding experi-
ence, and all of us appreciate the opportunity we had to partici-
pate.

Contributed by Winslow Ames

HISTORIC PRESERVATION

Survey of Courthouse Architecture. Joseph E. Seagram and
Sons, Inc. formally announced plans to commemorate the
United States Bicentennial during a reception at the Seagram
Building in New York on October 21. The company is assem-
bling an unprecedented photographic record of extant historic
courthouses across the country. Each of the nation’s more than
3,000 county jurisdictions has been contacted and although re-
sponse for the most part has been very good, the project’s
general editor is still seeking pertinent information and pictures.
Results of the survey will be exhibited and published sometime
in 1977. In addition to specially-commissioned photographs and
data entries on each building, the proposed publication will
include two essays in its format: an analysis of courthouse
architecture and a historical perspective. Upon completion of
the project survey materials will be deposited with an agency
or institution where they may be used by scholars. To provide

information, or obtain further details, contact: Richard Pare,
General Editor, U. S. Bicentennial Project, Joseph E. Seagram
and Sons, Inc., 375 Park Avenue, New York, N.Y. 10022.

In Brief. The State of Oregon has passed a bill which offers tax
relief to those who restore and maintain historic properties.
Effective January 1, 1976, HB 2476 provides that qualified com-
mercial and residential properties may be assessed for fifteen
years at the true cash values recorded at the time owners apply
for certification from the State Historic Preservation Officer
and local assessment offices.

Two major Chicago School buildings were declared official
landmarks by the Chicago City Council last June after lengthy
negotiations extending over several years. Holabird and Roche’s
Marquette Building (1894) and D. H. Burnham and Co.’s Re-
liance Building(1895) are now protected to the extent possible
under the city's landmark ordinance.

The Detroit Club (1892) in Detroit, Michigan has been restored
to its original appearance in a project which included interiors.
The men’s club was designed by Philadelphia-based architect,
Wilson Eyre, Jr.

The historic Renaissance Revival West Wing of California’’s
State Capitol (1860-1874) in Sacramento is to be restored in a
$34.5 million project recently authorized by the state legislature.
To protect against threat of earthquakes, project plans include
reinforcing the gilded steel-trussed dome and installing a con-
crete framework which is to be concealed by original brick walls.

The City of New Haven has announced plans to restore the
facade and clock tower of its High Victorian Gothic City Hall
(1861-1862) designed by Henry Austin. Incorporation of the
facade into the city’s new Government Center opposite New
Haven Green represents a compromise reached when strong
objection to an earlier plan calling for the city halls demolition
was voiced by the New Haven Preservation Trust. Unless city
officials and the Government Center architect are persuaded to
consider other alternatives, however, three-fourths of the exist-
ing city hall and the complementary Victorian Gothic courthouse
(1873) adjacent to it will be destroyed.

A Richardsonian-Romanesque police station in Boston’s Back
Bay, designed by Arthur H. Vinal in 1886, has been adapted for
use by the Institute of Contemporary Art. It was opened last
May under an 80-year lease from the Boston Redevelopment
Authority.

The Historic Richmond Foundation announced in August that
it has given final approval to a $400,000 revolving fund and
construction budget for 1975. Among projects currently
scheduled by the city-wide, nonprofit organization is restoration
of Carrington Row (1818), the finest block of row houses in
Richmond dating from the Federal period. Once attributed to
Robert Mills, the row is now thought to be the work of a skillful
imitator.

Follow-Up. During the past summer, Atlanta Landmarks, Inc.
succeeded in taking over purchase agreements on the pseudo-
Islamic Fox Theater (1929) held by the Southern Bell Telephone
Company. The preservation group faces the task of raising $2.5
million during the next year to cover a loan and initial costs of
restoring the Atlanta movie theater for use as a civic and perform-
ing arts center. The future of another notable movie palace,
Omaha's Orpheum Theater (1925) by Chicago theater architects
Rapp and Rapp, has been similarly secured. The French Renais-
sance Revival landmark was reopened this year as a city-
sponsored performing arts center.
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